STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Lancaster County

Honorable Daniel D. Hall, Circuit Court Judge

DEMARIO M. THOMPSON,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000224

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

GARY H JOHNSON
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

RECEIVED

Aug 25 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISSUE PRESENTED

1. Did the PCR court err in ruling trial counsel was effective when he failed to conduct any investigation concerning prior damage to the apartment door when informed by both the petitioner and victim the door was already damaged and broken prior to petitioner's alleged forcible entry to commit burglary?

2. Did the PCR court err in finding trial counsel did not have a duty to object to the testimony of the responding officer that petitioner's girlfriend had been strangled based solely upon his lay opinion as to the cause of marks on her neck?

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 2, 2014, Demario M. Thompson (petitioner) was loudly knocking on the door to enter the apartment of his girlfriend, Keasia Drafton. It was not contested that he stayed at the apartment on at least some occasions with Drafton. App. 110, ll. 2-3. This woke several neighbors. App. 64, ll. 7 – 13; 72, ll. 11 - 17. Drafton herself called 911.¹ Witnesses testified about hearing petitioner hitting the door. App. 64, l. 11 –8; 72 ll. 9 – 17. In her 911 call, Drafton mentioned petitioner had a gun, but no other witness at trial testified regarding the presence of a gun prompting directed verdicts by the trial court on the two pointing and presenting a firearm charges. App. 103, ll. 8 – 23. When police arrived, they noted the door had been “kicked in” and Drafton had marks from “strangulation.” App. 54, ll. 11 – 16; 59, l. 22 –60, l. 1. Drafton did not desire to press charges and she did not attend petitioner’s trial. App. 35, l. 14 –36, l. 20; 234.

Central to the state’s case was the condition of the entry door to the apartment on July 2, 2014. The Court of Appeals noted its importance, mentioning the kicked door in relation to the burglary charge. *Id.* Trial counsel was aware of damage to the door caused by forcible entry of the police from several weeks before July 2, 2014, but elected not to present any evidence of the prior damage at trial. As trial counsel admitted:

“I did not focus on the door. Maybe I should have pulled the incident report. I'm not going to sit here and say that it wouldn't have been -- it would have been worthless. It could have been. That's why I did not pull an incident report. I checked my notes and checked my emails to see if I emailed the solicitor for it and I did not do that.”

App. 210, l. 24 –211, l. 5. Counsel admitted he did not investigate the prior damage to the door *at all* even though the prior damage was confirmed by Drafton. App. 210, ll. 15 - 18.

¹ The 911 call was introduced at trial over objection and its admissibility upheld on direct appeal.

Trial counsel also did not object when the state elicited opinion evidence from the responding officer as to the cause of marks on Drafton's neck. The officer described them at trial as resulting from "some sort of strangulation." App. 59, l. 24 –60, l. 1. The state then used the strangulation evidence numerous times during closing to argue for conviction, particularly for the burglary charge as discussed *supra*. App. 108, ll. 6-13; 111, ll. 11-18; 112, ll. 18-20.

On October 2, 2014, a Lancaster County Grand Jury indicted petitioner DeMario Thompson for one count of first-degree burglary, one count of attempted murder, one count of possession or display of a firearm during a violent crime, and two counts of pointing and presenting a firearm arising out of the incident. App. 156 - 161. On January 5, 2015, petitioner was tried before the Honorable Brian Gibbons and a jury. Brandon Steen represented Petitioner and Assistant Solicitor Andrew Cook represented the State. Judge Gibbons granted a directed verdict of acquittal for the two pointing and presenting a firearm charges due to lack of evidence. App. 103, ll. 8-23. The jury found Petitioner not guilty of attempted murder and not guilty of possession or display of a firearm during a violent crime. App. 147, l. 20 –148, l. 12.

However, the jury did find Appellant guilty of burglary in the first degree and guilty of a lesser-included offense of assault and battery third degree.² App. 147, l. 20 –148, l. 12. The trial court sentenced Petitioner to time served for assault and battery and to fifteen years imprisonment for first degree burglary. App. 154, l. 9 – 155, l. 3. On direct appeal, Petitioner asserted errors regarding the admission of the 911 call made by the alleged victim, Keasia Drafton, and a trespass notice letter provided to Drafton by the apartment complex several months before the incident, and the sufficiency of the evidence to support the burglary charge.

² "A person commits the offense of assault and battery in the third degree if the person unlawfully injures another person, or offers or attempts to injure another person with the present ability to do so." S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-600(E)(1) (2011).

The Court of Appeals affirmed, finding both the 911 call and the letter properly admitted, and the evidence supporting burglary sufficient to submit to a jury. State v. Thompson, 420 S.C. 386, 803 S.E.2d 44 (Ct. App. 2017).

Petitioner filed an application for PCR on April 8, 2020. App. 162. The application was amended before the evidentiary hearing to include allegations surrounding counsel's failure to investigate prior damage to the door to the apartment. App. 181. Petitioner was represented at his PCR hearing by Tommy Thomas and Danielle Dixon appeared on behalf of the state. App. 183. An evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Daniel D. Hall on September 2, 2022. Before the hearing, petitioner clarified the basis for his relief as including allegations trial counsel failed to investigate prior damage to the apartment door along with the original allegations. App. 185, ll. 13 – 22. Petitioner and trial counsel, Brandon Steen, presented testimony. By order dated October 14, 2022, Judge Hall denied the application for relief. App. 235 – 246. This petition for *certiorari* followed.

ARGUMENT

1. The PCR court erred in finding counsel effective when he admitted he failed to investigate prior damage to the door of the apartment petitioner shared with Drafton caused by police kicking open the door when they responded to an incident a couple of weeks before the petitioner's alleged forcible entry.
 - A. The PCR court erred in finding petitioner did not request trial counsel investigate the prior damage to the door caused by the police.

During the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel admitted he was informed prior to trial that Drafton's apartment door had been kicked open by police during an incident that happened a few weeks prior to the incident on July 2, 2014. This information was provided to him by both petitioner and Drafton. App. 197, l. 7 –198, l. 23; 210, l. 13 –211, l. 17.

The PCR court erroneously found it credible that petitioner did not ask trial counsel to investigate the door since no evidence supported that finding. App. p. 244. While trial counsel testified he did not *remember* petitioner asking about the door, he acknowledged being aware of it through Drafton: "I was aware of it from talking to Ms. Drafton. So I'm not sitting here saying that I did not have any knowledge of the situation." App. 211, ll. 9 – 11. By contrast, petitioner recalled telling trial counsel about the importance of the prior damage:

Q. Did you talk to your attorney about that door?

A. I told him to try to see, could he get the paperwork from Lancaster County saying the incident report, when it happened. I told him, like, it was a couple weeks before this incident happened, to try to get it for me. I don't know if -- I guess he couldn't get it or he didn't try to get it, I don't know.

Q. How was that communicated to your attorney, did you talk to him, did you write him?

A. Yeah, I talked to him. I think I talked to him in person. I can't remember if I wrote him, but I know I talked to him. I might have wrote him too though. I don't remember.

Q. And you felt that was important?

A. Yes, sir. I really did.

App. 198, ll. 6 – 20. Despite trial counsel admitting he knew about the prior damage to the door and not remembering being specifically told about it by petitioner, the PCR court found trial counsel was not asked to investigate the prior damage to the door. This finding is not supported by the record as there would be no credible reason he was being told, by two sources, about the prior damage incident if it was not potentially important to the case and worthy of at least some investigation. In addition, while trial counsel could not remember being asked by petitioner, he never denied or contradicted petitioner's direct testimony that he informed trial counsel of the prior damage since he felt it was important to his case. App. 198, ll. 6 – 20. Further, trial counsel indicated it was possible petitioner wrote him regarding the door.

Q. Do you know whether or not he sent you any letters from the detention center asking about it?

A. He -- I do not recall seeing that. I looked at my letters. It's possible. He sent me 16. Most of what we know was, wanting to plead to the time served and probation.

App. 211, ll. 12 – 17. The PCR court erred in ruling trial counsel was not asked to investigate the prior damage to the door.

B. The PCR court erred in finding trial counsel exercised a reasoned judgment in not seeking additional information regarding the damage to the door.

Rather than investigate the door's prior damage, counsel made the decision not to investigate because it would "open the door" to the fact of the prior altercation. App. 210, ll. 20-23. The PCR court found trial counsel was reasonable in not investigating this incident since it

involved a prior incident between petitioner and Drafton. App. 244. However, since no charges for the prior altercation were ever filed and since the damage was caused by the police entering the residence rather than any action of the petitioner, trial counsel was ineffective for not investigating the nature of the prior incident so that he was at least aware of what “other things” he was avoiding by not pursuing evidence of this incident. App. 210, l. 13 –212, l. 2.

Petitioner described the prior incident during the PCR hearing:

I know it was -- basically, they said -- it was off the hinges. But the door was already messed up from previous weeks *when the Lancaster County Police Department kicked the door down*. We had a little altercation over there and when they came and knocked on the door, we didn't say nothing because we had been arguing. We didn't say nothing and they kicked the door down and never got it fix.

App. 197, ll. 9 – 16 (emphasis added). No charges were filed. App. 197, ll. 22 – 24.

Counsel’s stated fear of opening the door to the prior incident may have been a strategic decision if the earlier incident actually been investigated and included violence *on the part of petitioner*. However, there were no charges from the earlier incident. Petitioner indicated the argument was verbal and the police themselves kicked open the door since he and Drafton kept quiet when they arrived and would not open the door themselves. App. 204, l. 16 –205, l. 9. Trial counsel admitted he “did not focus on the door” and “should have pulled the incident report.” App. 210, ll. 24 – 25.

To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, the petitioner must satisfy the two-prong test set forth in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). “First, a defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, [t]he proper measure of attorney performance remains simply reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989) (internal citations omitted).

“[C]riminal defense attorneys have a duty to undertake a reasonable investigation, which *at a minimum* includes interviewing potential witnesses and making an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.” Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 456, 710 S.E.2d 60, 64 (2011) (emphasis added); *see also* Ard v. Catoe, 372 S.C. 318, 331–32, 642 S.E.2d 590, 597 (2007) (“Moreover, while the scope of a reasonable investigation depends upon a number of issues, ‘at a minimum, counsel has the duty to interview potential witnesses and to make an independent investigation of the facts and circumstances of the case.’”).

“Where counsel articulates a valid reason for employing a certain strategy, such conduct will not be deemed ineffective assistance of counsel.” Gilchrist v. State, 350 S.C. 221, 226–27, 565 S.E.2d 281, 284 (2002). However, “strategic choices made by counsel after an incomplete investigation are reasonable ‘only to the extent that reasonable professional judgment supports the limitations on the investigation.’” McKnight v. State, 378 S.C. 33, 45, 661 S.E.2d 354, 360 (2008) (*quoting* Von Dohlen v. State, 360 S.C. 598, 607, 602 S.E.2d 738, 743 (2004)).

Trial counsel’s failure to investigate this prior incident over a fear of an unknown impact of “opening the door” to an earlier argument between petitioner and Drafton was ineffective assistance of counsel. *See* McKnight v. State, 378 S.C. 33, 46, 661 S.E.2d 354, 360 (2008)(finding ineffective assistance in not attempting to rebut the medical studies counsel knew the State’s experts would cite); Bagwell v. State, 410 S.C. 259, 266, 763 S.E.2d 630, 634 (Ct. App. 2014) (finding decision not to test broken glass for DNA prior to trial was unreasonable because the state used the glass as circumstantial evidence of guilt).

In the present case, trial counsel’s decision not to investigate the prior damage to the door was unreasonable when forcible entry was an essential element of the case against petitioner. “[C]ounsel has a duty to make reasonable investigations or to make a reasonable decision that

makes particular investigations unnecessary.” Walker v. State, 407 S.C. 400, 405, 756 S.E.2d 144, 147 (2014) (*quoting Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)). Trial counsel’s fear of “opening the door” was not a valid strategy when he was unaware, due to a failure to investigate, to what he potentially was in danger of allowing into evidence versus the clear benefits of showing prior damage to the door which explained its “broken” condition on the night of the incident.

C. Petitioner was prejudiced by trial counsel’s failure to investigate.

The PCR court erred in finding counsel’s failure to investigate and utilize the prior damage was not prejudicial. “The second prong of the Strickland test requires a showing that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant to the extent that there was a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. The defendant is required to overcome the presumption that counsel was effective in order to receive relief.” Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989) (internal citations omitted). Therefore, where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for PCR relief, the applicant must prove that “counsel’s conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985) (*quoting Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 692).

The “violence” towards the door was central to the state’s case. The solicitor made numerous references to the door being “kicked” and “broken off the hinges” during closing

argument. App. 106, ll. 1-2; 107, ll. 1-3; 109, ll. 11-22. This included specific argument surrounding the burglary offense:

“There's no question he did not have permission to be in there that night. I'm sure in the past he's gone there plenty of times, that was his girlfriend. At 4:00 in the morning this night he did not have consent to be there, if he did he wouldn't have to *kick the door down to get inside*. Ms. Drafton even said on the 911 call, they asked her, said, "What was he wearing? I don't know, I was asleep." How is she going to consent to him coming in if she's asleep? Just like in anything else, silence itself is not consent for anything, let alone for somebody to come in your house. If somebody knocks on the door and you don't answer, that does not give them consent to come in. Because you didn't say no, because you didn't answer, they did not have the right to come in, *let alone kick the door off the hinges to get in there.*”

App. 110, ll. 1-15 (emphasis added). The importance of the violence towards the door was equally apparent to the South Carolina Court of Appeals on direct appeal which noted the “door appeared to have been kicked in’ because ‘[t]he deadbolt was still engaged[,] and the door was hanging slightly off its hinges.’” Thompson, 420 S.C. at 393, 803 S.E.2d at 47. Trial counsel acknowledged the importance of the alleged violent entry.

Q. Do you think it would have been important to have been able to show that this door was damaged prior to this incident?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. 'Cause I mean, there's a lot of references to violently kicking this door in.

A. Yes. The State focused on it a lot.

Q. Right. And did you -- you did not make any efforts to determine or be able to provide any evidence in regards to the damage to the door?

A. No. There was evidence that the door -- there was prior -- he said -- it's possible the door was kicked in before or damage was done to the door, but there was evidence that suggested that it was

opened again that night also. But nobody -- I did not make any -- look to appear to make any objections or motions to keep that out.

App. 213, l. 24 –214, l. 15.

The fact that the door was damaged and not repaired from a prior incident would have been very relevant to the alleged “violent” nature of petitioner’s entry into the apartment he shared with Drafton.³ The jury, which acquitted petitioner of attempted murder and of possessing a firearm during the commission of a violent act, would likely have evaluated his *intent* to commit a burglary first degree in a different fashion had evidence of prior damage to the door been introduced at trial. “First-degree burglary requires the entry of a dwelling *without consent with the intent to commit a crime therein*, as well as the existence of an aggravating circumstance.” Thompson, at 403, 803 S.E.2d at 52 (emphasis added). As the condition of the door was central the state’s argument that petitioner both lacked consent and intended to commit a crime upon entry, trial counsel was deficient in not investigating the prior damage to the door. Petitioner is entitled to a new trial due to counsel’s failure to investigate evidence he was aware of from multiple sources that went to a key element of the charges. See Edwards v. State, 392 S.C. 449, 710 S.E.2d 60 (2011); Bagwell v. State, 410 S.C. 259763 S.E.2d 630 (Ct. App. 2014)

³ At trial, the state conceded petitioner and Drafton were in a relationship, and that petitioner had been in the apartment “plenty of times.” App. 110, ll. 2-3.

2. The PCR court erred in finding trial counsel was effective in failing to object to the investigating officer classifying marks on Drafton's neck as resulting from "some sort of strangulation."

A. The PCR court committed an error of law in determining the officer's testimony on the cause of marks on Drafton's neck was proper lay opinion under Rule 701, SCRE.

At trial, Deputy Reuben Silberman, was allowed to describe marks on Drafton's neck as resulting from strangulation.

Q: Why did you take a picture from this angle? Why did you take this picture?

A: I took a picture to show that there was a wound on her neck, *it appeared to be the result of some sort of strangulation.*

App. 59, l. 22 –60, l. 1 (emphasis added).

Trial counsel did not object to the officer's opinion about the nature and cause of the marks on Drafton's neck nor did he object to the state's argument at closing that petitioner strangled and choked Drafton. Trial counsel acknowledged the officer was not competent to provide expert opinion on the cause of the marks but reasoned the officer did not need to be an expert to describe what he saw. App. 215, l. 20 –216, l. 12; 224, ll. 9-19. The PCR court found the officer's description of the marks on Drafton's neck as resulting from strangulation was proper lay testimony and trial counsel had no basis to object. App. p. 245. This is an error of law as allowing a police officer to give an opinion that marks on a person's neck are caused by strangulation was not proper lay opinion under Rule 701, SCRE.

Allowing the officer to testify not just to the presence of "marks on her neck" but to the cause of such marks – resulting from strangulation – was not proper lay opinion under Rule 701, SCRE. As noted by the Mississippi Supreme Court in a similar case, allowing the police to describe "red marks" as indicative of being "strangled constituted the sort of testimony properly reserved to an expert." Kirk v. State, 160 So. 3d 685, 693 (Miss. 2015). Kirk involved

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