STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari
to Lancaster County
Brian Gibbons, Trial Judge
Daniel Hall, PCR Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-000224

RECEIVED

Jan 08 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

DEMARIO THOMPSON,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

**RETURN TO PETITION
FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

DANIELLE DIXON
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 73999

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

In a PCR action, Applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel, Applicant must prove "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that [it] cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Butler, 286 S.C. at 442, 334 S.E.2d at 814. In evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, the reviewing court applies the

two-pronged test outlined in Strickland. First, Applicant must prove counsel’s performance was deficient. Id.; Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 117, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). Under this prong, the court measures an attorney’s performance by its “reasonableness under prevailing professional norms.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625. “Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Id. The Applicant must overcome this presumption to receive relief. Cherry, 300 S.C. at 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625. To prove prejudice, an applicant must show “a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

A. Counsel articulated a valid reason for not further investigating the damage when introducing evidence of the prior damage could open the door to evidence of a prior altercation between Petitioner and Victim.

The PCR court properly found counsel articulated a valid strategy in not wanting to draw attention to a prior altercation between Petitioner and Victim. “Courts must be wary of second-guessing counsel’s trial tactics.” Whitehead v. State, 308 S.C. 119, 417 S.E.2d 529 (1992). When counsel articulates a valid strategic reason for his action or inaction, counsel’s performance should not be found ineffective. Underwood v. State, 309 S.C. 560, 425 S.E.2d 20 (1992). If counsel articulates a valid strategy, “it is measured under an objective standard of reasonableness.” Ingle v. State, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002). Counsel's performance is accorded a favorable presumption, and a reviewing court proceeds from the rebuttable presumption that counsel “rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment.” Smith v. State, 386 S.C. 562, 567, 689 S.E.2d 629, 632 (2010) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 690). Additionally, “[a] fair assessment of attorney performance

requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight.” Weldon v. State, 436 S.C. 69, 81, 870 S.E.2d 183, 189 (Ct. App. 2021) (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 689).

Here, the PCR court correctly determined counsel articulated a valid trial strategy for not further investigating damage on Victim’s door. Counsel testified Victim told him the door was previously damaged during an argument between her and Petitioner. Counsel elaborated that if evidence of the prior damage to the door was introduced at trial, “that opens the door for a lot of other things since [Petitioner] was the other participant in the situation with the door being caved in.” (App 210). Counsel’s reason for not further investigating and introducing evidence of the damage to the door was reasonable under prevailing professional norms. Had counsel introduced evidence of the door’s prior damage at trial, it would have opened the door to evidence of a prior altercation involving Petitioner and Victim. This would *not* have been a reasonable strategy.

In his petition, Petitioner attempts to undercut the reasonableness of counsel’s stated strategy by minimizing the prior altercation and claiming it was only verbal. (Pet. 7). However, Petitioner by his own testimony described it as an *altercation that led to the neighbors calling the police*. (App. 203). He further admitted that due to the frequency of altercations between him and Victim, Victim’s landlord had threatened to evict her if Petitioner continued to visit her apartment. (App. 203). This is not a minimal incident, and introducing evidence of prior altercations between Victim and Petitioner would have *strengthened* the State’s case—not undermined it.

Notably, as part of his strategy, counsel challenged the introduction of the no-trespass letter based on relevance, hearsay, prior bad act, and unfair prejudice. Had counsel then sought to introduce evidence that could reasonably lead to the introduction of a prior altercation between Victim and Petitioner, it would have undermined his strategy of keeping out evidence of prior bad acts. In short, it strains credibility to suggest evidence that could open the door to a prior altercation

between Petitioner and Victim should have been introduced—especially here where Petitioner faced charges of both first-degree burglary and attempted murder. Thus, counsel’s failure to further investigate this prior altercation—which prompted a phone call to police—was reasonable under prevailing professional norms.

Further, the PCR court found credible counsel’s testimony that Petitioner never asked counsel to investigate the damage done to Victim’s door, and this Court should defer to that finding. See Foye, 335 S.C. at 589, 518 S.E.2d at 267 (providing great deference should be given to the trial court “[w]here matters of credibility are involved”). Here, counsel testified he was aware that the door had been damaged during a prior altercation between Petitioner and Victim, but he did not recall Petitioner asking him to further investigate the door.² (App. 210-11). Based on this testimony, coupled with counsel’s valid strategy of not wanting to open the door to evidence of a prior altercation between Petitioner and Victim, the PCR court properly found Petitioner did not prove deficiency.

B. Petitioner failed to show prejudice because it is not reasonably likely the outcome would have been different had evidence of the prior damage to the door been introduced at trial.

Petitioner alleges the State’s case centered around Petitioner’s “violence” to Victim’s door, and the jury would have evaluated his intent to commit first-degree burglary differently had evidence of the prior damage to the door been admitted. (Pet. 9, 11). However, the PCR court properly found it was not reasonably likely the outcome would have been different had Petitioner presented evidence of prior damage to the door when the only evidence before the PCR Court

² Assuming arguendo Petitioner *did* ask counsel to further investigate damage to the door—which the PCR court did *not* find—counsel’s decision to not further investigate based on his stated strategy of not wanting to open the door to evidence of the prior altercation was reasonable under prevailing professional norms and not deficient.

showed that damage arose from a prior altercation between Petitioner and Victim. (App. 245).

Critically, counsel testified the damage to the door did not matter when analyzing the elements of first-degree burglary because even if Petitioner had not damaged the door, he still entered Victim's apartment without consent.³ (App. 220-21). Thus, it is not reasonably likely Petitioner would have been acquitted of first-degree burglary had counsel introduced evidence that the door had previously been damaged—especially considering the damaging nature of Victim's 911 call.⁴

Additionally, had Counsel brought up the prior damage to the door, it would have opened the door to evidence about the prior altercation between Petitioner and Victim, which would have damaged Petitioner's defense. Counsel's strategy was to keep out adverse testimony. (App. 209-10; 225). Had evidence of the prior damage been admitted, it could have reasonably led to evidence of Petitioner and Victim's prior altercation, which would have compounded the State's evidence against Petitioner.

Finally, and importantly, Petitioner did not introduce at the PCR hearing any evidence—other than his own self-serving testimony—of what counsel would have uncovered upon further investigation related to the door that would have reasonably changed the outcome of trial. Specifically, Petitioner did not enter the police report itself or testimony from law enforcement that they—and not Petitioner—caused the damage to the door. Thus, he did not prove this critical claim that his argument rests upon (i.e. that law enforcement damaged the door). In the absence of any evidence (other than Applicant's self-serving testimony) that law enforcement damaged the

³ Petitioner admitted he did not have Victim's consent to enter the apartment both during sentencing and again at the PCR hearing. (App. 152-53, 207).

⁴ This call was admitted and played at the PCR hearing. Respondent requests this Court listen to the call, as it is especially probative in evaluating this issue.

door, the evidence shows only that the door was damaged during a prior altercation involving Petitioner and Victim. Petitioner failed to show a reasonable likelihood that the outcome would have been different had counsel further investigated this damage and thus failed to show prejudice.

II. The PCR court properly found Petitioner did not prove counsel was ineffective for not objecting to Deputy Silberman’s testimony because Petitioner did not articulate an objection that would have excluded this testimony and it is not reasonably likely an objection would have changed the outcome.

Petitioner alleges the PCR court erred by determining Deputy Silberman’s testimony regarding Victim’s injuries was proper. Petitioner further alleges counsel should have objected because this testimony was improper opinion testimony, and counsel’s deficiency prejudiced Petitioner because the State continuously argued that Victim was strangled. (Pet. 12-15). However, the PCR court properly found Deputy Silberman’s testimony was proper lay testimony under Rule 701, SCRE, and Petitioner failed to show deficiency and prejudice. (App. 245).

A. Petitioner did not prove deficiency because he did not articulate an objection that would have excluded this testimony.

Petitioner did not prove counsel was deficient because he did not articulate an objection that would have excluded this testimony. In asserting counsel should have objected, Petitioner merely asserts this testimony did not meet the requirements of Rule 701, SCRE. However, Petitioner never actually cites the language of Rule 701 or analyzes the testimony under this Rule. Rather, Petitioner loosely relies on an out-of-circuit case that is distinguishable. Petitioner thus failed to meet his burden of proof.

If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is limited to those opinions or inferences which (a) are rationally based on the perception of the witness, (b) are helpful to a clear understanding of the witness’ testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, and (c) do not require special knowledge, skill, experience , or training. is limited to “opinions or inferences which (a) are rationally based on the

perception of the witness, (b) are helpful to a clear understanding of the witness' testimony or the determination of a fact in issue, and (c) do not require special knowledge, skill, experience or training.

Rule 701, SCRE. “Conclusions or opinions of laymen should be rejected only when they are superfluous in the sense that they will be of no value to the jury.” State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 463, 469 S.E.2d 49, 54 (1996). “Some statements are not mere opinions but are impressions drawn from collected, observed facts.” Id. at 464, 469 S.E.2d at 54. “A natural inference based on stated facts is not opinion evidence.” Id.

Here, the PCR court properly found this testimony was admissible under Rule 701, SCRE. At trial, Deputy Silberman testified he responded to the 911 call and spoke with Victim, who “was very upset” and “appeared to have a wound on her head, wound on her neck, [and] her clothes were torn.” (App. 53-54). When asked why he took a picture of Victim from a certain angle, he replied, “I took the picture to show that there was a wound on her neck, *it appeared* to be the result of some sort of strangulation.” (App. 59-60, emphasis added).

Deputy Silberman’s foregoing testimony was rationally based on his perception, was helpful to a clear understanding of his testimony, and did not require special knowledge, skill, experience, or training. Critically, Deputy Silberman testified he took a picture of what *appeared* to be a strangulation. He did not testify Petitioner had in fact been strangled or otherwise elaborate on the cause of the injury. Deputy Silberman’s testimony that he observed an injury that *appeared* to be a strangulation is an impression drawn from collected, observed facts. It is a natural inference to conclude an injury to a persons’ neck could be caused by strangulation. Thus, the PCR court properly found this testimony admissible under Rule 701, SCRE.

Petitioner’s reliance on Kirk v. State, 160 So. 3d 685 (Miss. 2015)—an out-of-state case—is misplaced. Kirk dealt with an officer providing lay-opinion testimony to show that the defendant

satisfied specific elements of the crime charged. In Kirk, the defendant was indicted for aggravated domestic violence, and his indictment specifically alleged that he strangled or attempted to strangle his wife. Id. at 693. An officer testified at trial that the defendant’s wife had strangulation marks on her neck and that her injuries were ““things that could happen in a strangulation to the neck.”” Id. at 692. The Mississippi Supreme Court found the officer could testify the wife had marks on her neck because this was related to the officer’s observations. Id. However, the officer could not testify that the defendant’s wife was strangled because “an issue to be determined at trial was whether the injuries sustained by Casey were caused by strangulation.”⁵ Id. Here, unlike Kirk, strangulation is not an element of any of the crimes Petitioner was charged with. Petitioner was charged with first-degree burglary, attempted murder, and three charges involving a firearm. None of the elements for any of these charges require the accused to strangle or attempt to strangle a victim. Thus, Kirk differs greatly from Petitioner’s case.

Ultimately, Deputy Silberman’s testimony that he took a picture of what *appeared* to be a strangulation mark was permissible under Rule 701, especially when (1) Deputy Silberman did not testify the mark was actually caused by strangulation, and (2) strangulation was not an element of any offense for which Petitioner was charged. Petitioner did not set forth any valid legal objection counsel should have raised to this testimony that would have excluded this testimony. Thus, the PCR court properly concluded Petitioner did not prove deficiency.

⁵ The Court noted the officer’s testimony relating to whether the defendant’s wife had been strangled “constituted the sort of testimony properly reserved to an expert” because the strangulation was an issue to be decided by the jury. Id.

B. Petitioner failed to show he was prejudiced by counsel's failure to object to Deputy Silberman's testimony.

The PCR court properly found Petitioner failed to prove prejudice from counsel's failure to object to Deputy Silberman's testimony. Initially, the PCR court properly found the testimony was proper under Rule 701, SCRE—making it not reasonably likely any objection would have excluded the testimony. More critically, however, Petitioner was *acquitted* of the attempted murder charge and convicted of the lesser-included offense of *third-degree* assault and battery. Here, where Petitioner was acquitted of attempted murder and was not convicted of the lesser-included offenses of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (which requires great bodily injury" or an act "accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury"); first-degree assault and battery (which requires an offer or attempt to injure another person "accomplished by means likely to produce death or great bodily injury"); and second-degree assault and battery (which requires moderate bodily injury or injury an act that could have caused moderate bodily injury), it strains credibility to suggest that the jury determined that Petitioner did, in fact, attempt to strangle Victim. Thus, it is not reasonably likely any objection to this testimony would have changed the outcome.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari.